RECEIVED

01-14-2019

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEALS – DISTRICT II

Case No. 2018 AP2074 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES L. JACKSON, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal of a Judgment and an Order Entered in the Calumet County Circuit Court, the Honorable Jeffrey S. Froehlich, presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ANDREW R. HINKEL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1058128

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1779 hinkela@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

James Jackson is required to register as a sex offender. A provision of the registry statute, Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(a)6m., requires all registrants to disclose certain information about their activities on the internet. Mr. Jackson was convicted of a felony for failing to tell the government about a Facebook account and an email address he used.

1. Did prosecuting Mr. Jackson violate his First Amendment right to anonymous speech?

The circuit court held this issue waived by Mr. Jackson's guilty plea.

2. Is Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(a)6m. unconstitutionally overbroad?

The circuit court held the statute constitutional.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Jackson would welcome oral argument should this court desire it. Publication will likely be merited, as this case presents constitutional issues of first impression in Wisconsin.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The complaint charged Mr. Jackson with one count of failing to update the registry as a repeater. (4:1). Though the formal statement of the charge did not specify which statutory category of information Mr. Jackson had not updated, the body of the complaint explained he had "maintained an email account ... and maintained a Facebook account ... and ... had not reported either of these internet Wisconsin identifiers the Department to of Corrections." (4:5). The requirement that a person provide internet-related information is found in Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(a)6m.

Mr. Jackson pleaded no contest and received a four-year prison sentence. That sentence was stayed in favor of three years of probation, with a condition that he serve six months of jail time, which he has. (1:1; 48:1).

Mr. Jackson filed a postconviction motion that subd. violates the First asserting 6m. Amendment both as applied and, because it is overbroad, on its face. (44; App. 101-111). After briefing, the circuit court denied the motion in a decision. (52;57; App. written 54;114-129). Mr. Jackson appeals. (59).

ARGUMENT

I. Introduction, constitutional test, and standard of review

Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(a)6m. requires a person on the registry to inform the Department of Corrections of

> [t]he name or number of every electronic mail account the person uses, the Internet address of every Web site the person creates or maintains, every Internet user name the person uses, and the name and Internet address of every public or private Internet profile the person creates, uses, or maintains. The department may not place the information provided under this subdivision on any registry that the public may view but shall maintain the information in its records on the person. This subdivision applies only to an account, Web site, Internet address, or Internet profile the person creates, uses, or maintains for his or her personal, family, or household use.

In turn subs. (4) requires the person to inform the department within ten days if any of this information changes. Failure to do so is a Class H Felony carrying up to six years in prison. Wis. Stat. § 301.45(6)(a)1.

Mr. Jackson's prosecution under Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(a)6m. violated the First Amendment, for two reasons. First, as applied to Mr. Jackson: the statute infringed upon his right to communicate anonymously, and did so in a way not narrowly tailored to the government's interest in protecting the public from sex offenders. Second, the statute is unconstitutional on its face, because it requires the disclosure of a staggering amount of information unrelated to any conceivable threat to the public.

As to the first claim, the parties agreed below that the law is content-neutral, meaning that to be constitutional it must survive intermediate scrutiny—it must be "narrowly tailored to serve a significant governmental interest." Ward v. Rock Against Racism, 491 U.S. 781, 791 (1989). As to the second, a law is overbroad if "a substantial number of its applications are unconstitutional, judged in relation to the statute's plainly legitimate sweep." U.S. v. Stevens, 559 U.S. 460, 473 (2010).

The burden to show the law constitutional under these standards rests with the state—and it must show it beyond a reasonable doubt. This is because while statutes typically benefit from a presumption of validity, that presumption is reversed where a statute implicates First Amendment rights. In such cases "the burden of proving that the statute is constitutional beyond a reasonable doubt" falls upon the government. *State v. Stevenson*, 2000 WI 71, ¶¶9-10, 236 Wis. 2d 86, 613 N.W.2d 90. This court decides *de novo* whether this burden is met. *Lounge Mgmt., Ltd. v. Town of Trenton*, 219 Wis.2d 13, 19-20, 580 N.W.2d 156 (1998).

- II. Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(a)6m. deprives Mr. Jackson of the right to anonymous speech, and his prosecution under that statute violated the First Amendment.
 - A. The statute is unconstitutional as applied to Mr. Jackson.

The First Amendment protects a person's right to use the internet. Two terms ago, the Supreme Court struck down a North Carolina law barring people on the sex offender registry from using social media. It said that while "in the past there may have been difficulty in identifying the most important places (in a spatial sense) for the exchange of views, today the answer is clear. It is cyberspace—the 'vast democratic forums of the Internet' in general, and social media in particular." *Packingham v. North Carolina*, 137 S. Ct. 1730, 1735 (2017) (citations omitted).

Unlike the statute in *Packingham*, subd. 6m. does not, at least formally, forbid Mr. Jackson to use any part of the internet. What it does is require him to report to the state his use of a much larger portion of the internet than *Packingham*'s "social media" every email address he uses, every Web site he maintains, every Internet user name he adopts, and every public or private Internet profile he creates, uses, or maintains. He must do so within 10 days of first use or face prison.

The fact that subd. 6m. is formally a reporting requirement, rather than a ban, does not save its

constitutionality. It still violates Mr. Jackson's First Amendment rights by denying him the right to speak anonymously.

The First Amendment guarantees not only the right to communicate, but the right to do so without revealing one's identity. "[A]n author's decision to remain anonymous, like other decisions concerning omissions or additions to the content of a publication, is an aspect of the freedom of speech protected by the First Amendment." *McIntyre v. Ohio Elections Comm'n*, 514 U.S. 334, 342 (1995). "Anonymity is a shield from the tyranny of the majority. It thus exemplifies the purpose behind the Bill of Rights, and of the First Amendment in particular: to protect unpopular individuals from retaliation—and their ideas from suppression—at the hand of an intolerant society" *Id.* at 357 (citations omitted).

Subdivision 6m., by requiring Mr. Jackson to turn over his email addresses and Facebook account names to the government, prevents him from First and communicating anonymously. most obviously, law enforcement agencies are entitled to receive this information under Wis. Stat. § 301.46(2)(c) (as apparently happened here; see Complaint at 2). Facebook, as the *Packingham* court noted, allows users to

> debate religion and politics with their friends and neighbors or share vacation photos.... Indeed, Governors in all 50 States and almost every Member of Congress have set up accounts for this purpose. In short, social media users employ these websites to engage in a wide array

of protected First Amendment activity on topics "as diverse as human thought."

137 S. Ct. at 1735-36 (citation omitted). But Mr. Jackson is required to give the government his identifying information, meaning that he cannot engage in these protected activities without the threat of law enforcement surveilling his communications.

In *Millard v. Rankin*, 265 F. Supp. 3d 1211, 1229 (D. Colo. 2017), the federal district court considered provisions of Colorado's registry system (called SORA) very similar to subd. 6m—provisions requiring a registrant to disclose internet identifiers to the government. It said that

> SORA's registration requirement does not sweep as broadly in prohibiting the use of the internet and social media as the law struck down in *Packingham*, but it does something the North Carolina law did not. By requiring certain offenders to register email addresses and other internet identities, SORA provides law enforcement a supervisory tool to keep an eye out for registered sex offenders using email and social media.... That aspect of SORA is a "severe restriction" like the provisions in *Packingham*.

Id.

Noting the state's access to "all e-mail addresses, instant-messaging identities, or chat room identities... furthers the ability of state and local authorities to monitor private aspects of a registered sex offender's life and, consequently, chills his or her ability to communicate freely," the court struck the statute down. *Id.* at 1228.

Like the statute in *Millard*, subd. 6m. gives law enforcement the ability to watch Mr. Jackson online. But unlike that statute, it does not stop there. It is not just law enforcement that may track Mr. Jackson.

Though subd. 6m. says the Department can't put his internet identifiers "on any registry that the public may view," Wis. Stat. § 301.46(2)(e) permits the head of any local law enforcement agency to provide "any of the information to which he or she has access under this subsection" to "members of the general public" if, "in the opinion of the police chief or sheriff" doing so "is necessary to protect the public." Subdivision 301.46(5)(b)4. additionally permits law enforcement to share any information they deem "appropriate" with a requesting member of the public. So, at the discretion of local law enforcement, Mr. Jackson's email addresses and Facebook account can be shared with the public at large. In White v. Baker, 696 F. Supp. 2d 1289, 1311 (N.D. Ga. 2010), the court enjoined Georgia's similar statute for this very reason:

> It allows the Internet Identifiers to be released to the community by law enforcement "to protect the public." It is conceivable, if not predictable, that a person in law enforcement might determine that Internet Identifiers for offenders ought to be released so that the public can search for and monitor communications which an offender intends to be anonymous. That these anonymous communications might well be on a

matter of public policy, political speech, or other protected speech squarely implicates the First Amendment. While this monitoring could lead to the discovery of communications intended to harm children and thus would be a substantial benefit in identifying those making them, this section simply is too broad. It is by definition a violation of the requirement that the state employ the least restrictive means to address its interests. The prospect that Internet Identifiers, as currently defined, may be released to the community has an obvious chilling effect.

Similarly, in *Doe v. Harris*, 772 F.3d 563 (9th Cir. 2014), the federal appellate court examined California's registry law, which required registrants to inform the state of any "internet identifiers" they used. Though the law stated that registrants' information "shall not be open to inspection by the public" it contained an exception permitting law enforcement to "provide information to the public ... when necessary to ensure the public safety." 772 F.3d at 580.

The Harris court held this scheme—basically, confidentiality with loopholes—was not good enough to satisfy the First Amendment. This was because "[p]ublic safety,—like 'public interest'—is much too broad a concept to serve as an effective constraint on law enforcement decisions that may infringe First Amendment rights." *Id.* at 580–81 (citation omitted). Finding the law had "the inevitable effect of burdening sex offenders' ability to engage in anonymous online speech" because, with their identities exposed, "their speech, even on topics of public importance, could subject them to harassment, retaliation, and intimidation" the court upheld an injunction against enforcement of the law. *Id.* at 581. Wisconsin's scheme is also "confidentiality with loopholes"—and for the same reasons enunciated in *Harris*, it violates the First Amendment rights of registrants.

Like the statutes in *Millard*, *White*, and *Harris*, then, subd. 6m. imposes a substantial burden on Mr. Jackson's First Amendment rights. It permits government agents to monitor his speech on all manner of topics, but it goes further—at police discretion, it permits the release of his information to the public, so that the public may do the same.

What's more, these burdens are not "narrowly tailored" to the state's interest in protecting the community from sexual violence. To satisfy narrow tailoring, the state must prove subd. 6m. directly advances a significant interest. Edwards v. D.C., 755 F.3d 996, 1003 (D.C. Cir. 2014). "This burden is not satisfied by mere speculation or conjecture; rather, a governmental body seeking to sustain a restriction on ... speech must demonstrate that the harms it recites are real and that its restriction will in fact alleviate them to a material degree." Id. (citation omitted). Courts "closely scrutinize challenged speech restrictions to determine if they indeed promote the Government's purposes in more than a speculative way"). Lederman v. United States, 291 F.3d 36, 44 (D.C. Cir. 2002).

The state cannot show that subd. 6m. is narrowly tailored to advance any interest. First, the law applies to all registrants, regardless of whether they have any history of using the internet to commit or facilitate crimes. Thus, Mr. Jackson is required to submit his internet identifiers despite the fact that his sexual offense, (having occurred in 1990), did not involve the use of the internet. See Millard, 265 F. Supp. 3d at 1228 (striking down law requiring registrant to provide internet identities "even though there is no evidence that the crime for which he was convicted involved the use of the internet or social media, or that there is any objective danger of his doing so"); Harris, 772 F.3d at 563 ("The requirement applies to all registered sex offenders, regardless of their offense, their history of recidivism (or lack thereof), or any other relevant circumstance.... In short, we have a hard time finding even an attempt at narrow tailoring in this section of the Act.").

Second, requiring Mr. Jackson to turn over his email and Facebook information to the state "captures considerable conduct that has nothing to do with the state's legitimate interest in protecting [people] from predators." Doe v. Prosecutor, Marion Cty., Indiana, 705 F.3d 694, 697 (7th Cir. 2013) (striking down Indiana statute regulating sex offenders' use of the internet). As the Packingham Court recognized, social media sites are, for many, "the principal sources for knowing current events, checking ads for employment, speaking and listening in the modern public square, and otherwise exploring the vast realms of human thought and knowledge."

137 S. Ct. at 1737. And in fact many news outlets including Mr. Jackson's local Appleton Post-Crescent, Oshkosh Northwestern, and Fond du Lac Reporter require a Facebook account in order to comment on news stories, and display the account name along with any comments. Subdivision 6m. thus denies Mr. Jackson the ability to participate anonymously in discussions forums (and thus on issues) that are central to civic life.

Importantly, at the time Mr. Jackson was charged, though he was required to register, was not serving any sentence. So, unlike a probationer or parolee, who "is not entitled to the full range of constitutional rights accorded citizens," *State ex rel. Ludtke v. Dep't of Corr.*, 215 Wis. 2d 1, 12, 572 N.W.2d 864 (Ct. App. 1997), Mr. Jackson had "the same First Amendment rights as any other" citizen—he "enjoy[ed] the full protection of the First Amendment." *State v. Oatman*, 2015 WI App 76, ¶17, 365 Wis. 2d 242, 871 N.W.2d 513 (*citing Harris*, 772 F.3d at 570-72 (9th Cir. 2014)).

Requiring Mr. Jackson to expose his internet communications to the Department of Corrections, law enforcement agencies, and potentially the public at large denied him that "full protection." And, permitting the government to keep track of Mr. Jackson's views on local and national news is wholly unrelated to any interest in protecting the community from sexual assault. Subdivision 6m. thus infringes on First Amendment rights and is not narrowly tailored. It is unconstitutional. B. This court should not apply waiver to Mr. Jackson's as-applied challenge.

The state may argue that Mr. Jackson has waived his as-applied challenge by pleading guilty. This court should decline to apply waiver, for two reasons.

First, while Wisconsin courts have held that a guilty plea waives as-applied constitutional challenges, *see State v. Trochinski*, 2002 WI 56, ¶34, 253 Wis. 2d 38, 644 N.W.2d 891, a recent Supreme Court case calls this notion into question.

In *Class v. United States*, 138 S. Ct. 798 (2018), the defendant pleaded guilty to possessing a gun on the grounds of the U.S. Capitol, after unsuccessfully moving to dismiss the charge on Second Amendment and Due Process notice grounds.¹ The federal court of appeals held his guilty plea had waived these constitutional challenges. *Id.* at 802-03.

The Supreme Court reversed. It held that a guilty plea waives certain constitutional claims: claims having to do with the constitutional rules governing trials or government conduct before trial, and claims that "contradict the admissions necessarily made upon entry of a plea of guilty." *Id.* at 805. But other claims—those that admit the

 $^{^{1}}$ Class was decided after Mr. Jackson filed his postconviction motion, so he filed a letter alerting the circuit court about the case before the state filed its response. (50; App. 112-13).

conduct the government alleges, but "challenge the Government's power to criminalize" that conduct—survive a guilty plea. *Id*.

Mr. Jackson's challenge is of the latter type. He admits to having the email and Facebook accounts and to not informing the government about them. His claim is that a criminal charge for this conduct "is one which the State may not constitutionally prosecute." *Id.* at 801.

To be frank, it's unclear from the *Class* opinion whether the rule it announced is intended to bind the state courts—whether it is founded in constitutional or common law. But this court needn't decide whether it's binding or not, because even under Wisconsin's traditional rule, waiver is not appropriate here.

This court can decline to apply waiver where "the issues are of state-wide importance or resolution will serve the interests of justice and there are no factual issues that need to be resolved." *State v. Tarrant*, 2009 WI App 121, ¶6, 321 Wis. 2d 69, 772 N.W.2d 750. This case satisfies all three criteria: the constitutionality of the sex offender registry statute has importance state-wide; the prosecution of constitutionally-protected speech is contrary to the interests of justice; and all pertinent facts are clear from the complaint.

The circuit court's conclusion to the contrary was misguided. As to the first factor, the court asserted because no one had previously raised a claim like Mr. Jackson's *in Calumet County*, the issue was not of statewide importance. (57:2; App. 125). Whether a state criminal statute conforms to the federal Constitution is manifestly a question of statewide importance—whether or not it has previously been presented to one of this state's 249 circuit court judges. And resolving such a question surely serves the interests of justice.

Regarding the third factor, the circuit court found that pertinent facts were unknown. That conclusion, too, was ill-founded-what the court did was hypothesize a series of claims that Mr. Jackson is *not* making, and note that there was no evidence for these claims. (57:2-3; App. 125-26). Mr. Jackson nowhere alleged that the has DOC has а "surveillance program" or that it is hacking into his email accounts without a warrant—his claim is that the statute required him to turn over information. and also permits that information to be shared with law enforcement and the general public. The claim is not that his anonymous internet speech has been exposed, but that he was criminally punished for engaging in anonymous speech. All the facts necessary to decide whether this was constitutional are contained in the complaint. This court should decide the question.

III. Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(a)6m. infringes on far more speech than can be justified and chills protected speech, and is thus unconstitutionally overbroad.

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