RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 04-16-2019

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2018AP2074-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES L. JACKSON, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND A DECISION DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN CALUMET COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY S. FROEHLICH, PRESIDING

RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. Jackson waived his as-applied challenge by pleading no contest.

Whether Jackson's no-contest plea relinquished his right to appeal the constitutionality of his statute of conviction on an as-applied basis is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *See State v. Kelty*, 2006 WI 101, ¶ 13, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886.

A. A guilty or no-contest plea waives (or forfeits) an as-applied constitutional challenge to the statute of conviction.

With a few exceptions not relevant here, a valid guilty or no contest plea waives all nonjurisdictional defenses to a conviction, including constitutional violations. See State v. Riekkoff, 112 Wis. 2d 119, 122–23, 332 N.W.2d 744 (1983). Courts refer to this as the guilty plea waiver rule, although it is more accurately described as a rule of forfeiture. See Kelty, 294 Wis. 2d 62, ¶ 18 & n.11. In Wisconsin, whether a guilty plea forecloses review of a claim that the defendant was convicted of violating an unconstitutional statute depends on whether the challenge is facial or as-applied. The guilty plea waiver rule does not foreclose a facial constitutional challenge because that type of challenge involves an issue of subject matter jurisdiction. *See State v. Cole*, 2003 WI 112, ¶ 46, 264 Wis. 2d 520, 665 N.W.2d 328; *see also State v. Olson*, 127 Wis. 2d 412, 420, 380 N.W.2d 375 (Ct. App. 1985) ("A statute, unconstitutional on its face, is void from its beginning to the end") (quoting *State ex rel. Comm'rs of Pub. Lands v. Anderson*, 56 Wis. 2d 666, 672, 203 N.W.2d 84 (1973)).

An as-applied challenge, in contrast, raises a nonjurisdictional defect that may be waived. See Cole, 264 Wis. 2d 520, ¶ 46. For example, in Cole, Cole pleaded guilty to a violation of Wis. Stat. § 941.23, which prohibited his carrying a concealed weapon, and he raised an as-applied constitutional challenge in a postconviction motion. Id. The supreme court held that as a result of his plea, Cole "waived the opportunity to challenge the constitutionality of" section 941.23 as applied to him. Id.

So too, here. Jackson pleaded no contest to a count of violating the sex offender registry statute, and he raised no constitutional challenge to the statute of conviction until his postconviction proceedings. He therefore waived his asapplied challenge, and the Court may deny it on that basis.

B. *Class* has no effect on Wisconsin's guilty plea waiver rule.

Jackson contends that *Class v. United States*, 138 S. Ct. 798 (2018), calls into question Wisconsin's longstanding guilty plea waiver rule to provide that defendants who plead guilty or no contest retain the right to raise an as-applied constitutional challenge to the statute of conviction. (Jackson's Br. 13–14.) Jackson is wrong.

Class involved a federal criminal defendant who entered an unconditional guilty plea under the Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11 (Rule 11). He then challenged the statute of conviction, which bars individuals from carrying a firearm on Capitol grounds, as violating the Second Amendment and violating the due process fair-notice requirement. Class, 138 S. Ct. at 802. The question before the Supreme Court was "whether a guilty plea by itself bars a federal defendant from criminal challenging the constitutionality of the statute of conviction on direct appeal." Id. at 803.

The Court held that Class's guilty plea did not waive his constitutional claims on direct appeal because they "challenge the Government's power to criminalize Class' (admitted) conduct. They thereby call into question the Government's power to 'constitutionally prosecute" him. *Class*, 138 S. Ct. at 805. Moreover, the Court held, nothing in Rule 11 prevented Class from raising the claims simply based on his guilty plea. *Id.* at 805–07.

Class does not impact Wisconsin's guilty plea waiver rule. By the Court's own words, the question presented was whether a *federal* criminal defendant's guilty plea pursuant to Rule 11 waived his constitutional challenges to the statute of conviction. *Class*, 138 S. Ct. at 803.

Further, it is not clear from the Court's decision whether it considered Class's claims to be facial, as applied, or a combination of the two. But the Court 's distinction between a constitutional challenge that questions the government's power to prosecute and one that does not echoes the jurisdictional distinction between facial and as-applied challenges. To wit, a facial challenge is one that "strip[s] the government of its ability to enter a conviction against any defendant." *United States v. Phillips*, 645 F.3d 859, 863 (7th Cir. 2011). In contrast, an as-applied challenge "does not dispute the court's power to hear cases under the statute; rather it questions the court's limited ability to enter a conviction in the case before it." *Id.* (citing *Blackledge v. Perry*, 417 U.S. 21, 30 (1974)). Wisconsin courts, in developing the guilty plea waiver rule, have long recognized that distinction between facial challenges, which implicate the court's jurisdiction, and nonjurisdictional as-applied challenges.¹

Accordingly, *Class* does not affect Wisconsin's guilty plea waiver rule, which is not based in Rule 11. Nor does the *Class* holding overturn the facial/as-applied distinction in the guilty plea waiver context.² Thus, *Class* does not require this Court to address Jackson's as-applied challenge.

C. This Court should otherwise decline to exercise its power to address Jackson's as-applied challenge.

Like the general rule of waiver, the guilty plea waiver rule is one of administration and does not involve a court's power to address the issues raised. *See Kelty*, 294 Wis. 2d 62, ¶ 18. Thus, this Court may decline to apply the rule "particularly if the issues are of state-wide importance or resolution will serve the interests of justice and there are no

¹ See, e.g., State v. Cole, 2003 WI 112, ¶ 46, 264 Wis. 2d 520, 665 N.W.2d 328; State v. Trochinski, 2002 WI 56, ¶ 34 n.15, 253 Wis. 2d 38, 644 N.W.2d 891; State v. Molitor, 210 Wis. 2d 415, 419, 565 N.W.2d 248 (Ct. App. 1997); see also State ex rel. Skinkis v. Treffert, 90 Wis. 2d 528, 538, 280 N.W.2d 316 (Ct. App. 1979) (a successful facial constitutional challenge renders statute void and deprives court of power to convict any defendant for violating it).

² At least one state court has understood *Class*'s holding to be limited to allowing facial constitutional claims to proceed despite a guilty or no contest plea. *See, e.g., In re N.G.*, 115 N.E.3d 102, 122–23 (Ill. 2018) (concluding that, based on *Class*, "[d]efendants convicted under a *facially* unconstitutional statute may challenge the conviction at any time, even after a guilty plea, because the State or Government had no power to impose the conviction to begin with" (emphasis added)).

factual issues that need to be resolved." *State v. Tarrant*, 2009 WI App 121, ¶ 6, 321 Wis. 2d 69, 772 N.W.2d 750 (quoted source omitted). Jackson asks this Court to disregard his forfeiture and address the merits of his as-applied challenge because, in his view, all three criteria are met. (Jackson's Br. 14–15.)

This Court should decline Jackson's invitation. Jackson fails to identify—based on the facts of his case or the court's application of the law to him, specifically—why subparagraph 6m. is constitutionally infirm. See, e.g., State v. Hamdan, 2003 WI 113, ¶ 43, 264 Wis. 2d 433, 665 N.W.2d 785 (stating that courts assess as-applied challenges based on facts of defendant's case and application of law to specific circumstances).

Moreover, while the constitutionality of any statute is generally of state-wide importance, Jackson has fully advanced a reviewable facial overbreadth challenge that addresses similar concerns—i.e., the State's demands exceed its purpose—Jackson identifies in his as-applied argument. Compare United States v. Stevens, 559 U.S. 460, 472 (2010) (stating that a facial challenge for overbreadth must show "a substantial number of [the statute's] applications are unconstitutional, judged in relation to the statute's plainly legitimate sweep") with Ward v. Rock Against Racism, 491 U.S. 781, 791 (1989) (providing that an as-applied, intermediate-scrutiny challenge considers whether contentneutral restrictions on speech are "narrowly tailored to serve a significant governmental interest"). Accordingly, this Court's resolution of both the as-applied and facial challenge to determine whether the statute demands too much information of Jackson and other registrants does not promote efficient use of judicial resources and will not serve the interests of justice.

And as for unresolved factual issues, two points: first, as noted, Jackson fails to identify what facts, if any, about him

or his case, render subparagraph 6m. unconstitutional as applied to him. *See, e.g., Hamdan,* 264 Wis. 2d 433, ¶ 43 (stating that courts consider facts of defendant's case, not hypotheticals, in assessing merits of as-applied challenge). He argues that subparagraph 6m. allows the State to monitor and publicly disseminate internet identifiers of sex offender registrants. Those features would apply to anyone required to register as a sex offender, not Jackson uniquely.

Second, Jackson otherwise relies heavily on unresolved factual issues, particularly that the government has the ability to monitor his online activity and that it can broadcast his internet identifiers publicly. But there is no factual record establishing whether or how the government can monitor registry individuals on the basis of email addresses and user names or identifying when or how the government could publicly disclose those identifiers. The absence of those facts deprives this Court of the ability to make an as-applied determination. *See, e.g., Hamdan, 264* Wis. 2d 433, ¶ 43; *accord People v. Minnis,* 67 N.E.3d 272, 282 (III. 2016) (declining to consider defendant's as-applied challenge to similar registry requirements in "a factual vacuum").

To be sure, even in the First Amendment context, a defendant seeking as-applied relief faces better prospects for success than he does with a facial challenge. See State v. Culver, 2018 WI App 55, ¶¶ 9–10, 384 Wis. 2d 222, 918 N.W.2d 103 (stating that a proponent of "a facial challenge for overbreadth must show 'a substantial number of [the statute's] applications are unconstitutional, judged in relation to the statute's plainly legitimate sweep," a "steep" standard) (quoting Stevens, 559 U.S. at 473). But that Jackson may prefer the as-applied framework is not a reason to overcome the waiver rule, particularly where the claim is as-applied by label only.

This Court should decline to address Jackson's claim for as-applied relief.

II. If this Court reaches Jackson's as-applied challenge, subparagraph 6m. is a contentneutral regulation narrowly tailored to serve a significant government interest.

Wisconsin Stat. § 301.45 governs the state sex offender registry, which requires people who have committed a sex offense to provide certain information to the DOC, such as the offender's name and aliases and his home, school, and work addresses. Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(a). Subparagraph 6m. of paragraph (2)(a) provides that an offender must also provide DOC with his or her virtual names and addresses, including:

- "[t]he name or number of every electronic mail account the person uses,"
- "the Internet address of every website the person creates or maintains,"
- "every Internet user name the person uses," and
- "the name and Internet address of every public or private Internet profile the person creates, uses, or maintains."

Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(a)6m. That required information is further limited to "an account, website, Internet address, or Internet profile the person creates, uses, or maintains for his or her personal, family, or household use." *Id*.

In his as-applied challenge, Jackson argues that subparagraph 6m.'s requirements chill his First Amendment right to anonymous speech because, by providing his internet identifiers, he is under threat of the government monitoring his online communication and facilitating others in doing so by releasing that information to the public. (Jackson's Br. 5– 12.)

The State agrees with Jackson's statement of the standard of review (de novo), the burden of proof (the State bears the burden to prove constitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt), and that, as a content-neutral provision, intermediate scrutiny applies to subparagraph 6m. (Jackson's Br. 4.) But it disagrees with virtually all of his other points.

A. Under intermediate scrutiny, a content-neutral speech regulation need not be the least restrictive or intrusive means of advancing the government's interest.

The intermediate-scrutiny test allows the government to impose reasonable, content-neutral restrictions on speech that are "narrowly tailored to serve a significant governmental interest, and that . . . leave open ample alternative channels for communication of the information." *Ward*, 491 U.S. at 791.

"To satisfy this standard, a regulation need not be the least speech-restrictive means of advancing the Government's interests." *Turner Broad. Sys., Inc. v. F.C.C.*, 512 U.S. 622, 662 (1994). "Rather, the requirement of narrow tailoring is satisfied 'so long as the . . . regulation promotes a substantial government interest that would be achieved less effectively absent the regulation." *Ward*, 491 U.S. at 799 (quoting *United States v. Albertini*, 472 U.S. 675, 639 (1985)). "Narrow tailoring in this context requires, in other words, that the means chosen do not 'burden substantially more speech than is necessary to further the government's legitimate needs." *Turner Broad. Sys.*, 512 U.S. at 662 (quoting *Ward*, 491 U.S. at 799).

B. The State has a well-recognized and significant interest in protecting the public from recidivist sex offenders.

The purpose of Wisconsin's sex offender registry statute is to effectuate an "intent to protect the public and assist law enforcement"; it is "related to community protection" and designed to "further the governmental interests of public safety and enhance strategies for crime detection and prevention." State v. Smith, 2010 WI 16, ¶ 26, 323 Wis. 2d 377, 780 N.W.2d 90; see also State ex rel. Kaminski v. Schwarz, 2001 WI 94, ¶ 41, 245 Wis. 2d 310, 630 N.W.2d 164. This purpose is well-recognized as a legitimate, substantial public interest. Smith, 323 Wis. 2d 377, ¶ 26; see City of Los Angeles v. Alameda Books, Inc., 535 U.S. 425, 435 (2002) (recognizing substantial governmental interest in "reducing crime"); New York v. Ferber, 458 U.S. 747, 757 (1982) ("The prevention of sexual exploitation and abuse of children constitutes objective of a government surpassing importance."); see also Smith v. Doe, 538 U.S. 84, 90 (2003) (noting that since 1996 every state in the nation had enacted sex offender registry statutes).

Jackson does not dispute the legitimacy of the State's substantial interest; he instead claims that the disclosure provision in subparagraph 6m. is not narrowly tailored to advance that interest because it violates his right to anonymous speech. (Jackson's Br. 5–12.) As discussed below, he is wrong.

- C. Subparagraph 6m. is constitutional as applied.
 - 1. Subparagraph 6m. is narrowly tailored to advance the State's compelling interest and leaves ample alternative channels.

First Amendment rights include a right to anonymous speech. See McIntyre v. Ohio Elections Comm'n, 514 U.S. 334, 343–44 (1995). Of course, the right to speak anonymously is not unlimited. See Lefkoe v. Jos. A. Bank Clothiers, Inc., 577 F.3d 240, 248 (4th Cir. 2009); see also Lyrissa Barnett Lidsky & Thomas F. Cotter, Authorship, Audiences, and Anonymous Speech, 82 Notre Dame L. Rev. 1537, 1599–1600 (2007) (positing that the "right" to anonymous speech is better termed a "qualified privilege"). The government may impose regulations on anonymous speech that are subject to varying levels of judicial scrutiny, depending on the nature of the regulation. *See, e.g., Turner Broad. Sys.*, 512 U.S. at 640–41; *Ward*, 491 U.S. at 791–92.

There is no dispute that the provision at issue in Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(a)6m. is content-neutral—i.e., that its requirement that sex offender registrants provide internet identifiers³ such as "the name and number of every electronic email account the person uses, the Internet address of every website the person creates or maintains, every Internet user name the person uses, and the name and Internet address of every public or private Internet profile the person creates, uses, or maintains"—is unrelated to the content of speech. See Turner Broad. Sys., 512 U.S. at 642.

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